GATESHEAD METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING

Thursday, 15 June 2017

PRESENT: Councillor B Oliphant (Chair)

Councillor(s): B Clelland, A Geddes, L Kirton, K McCartney,

C McHatton, S Ronchetti, C Simcox and D Bradford

CO-OPTED MEMBERS Jill Steer

F1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Caffrey, Cllr Mullen, Cllr Dillon, Cllr Hall, Cllr Adams, Cllr S Craig, Cllr P Craig and co-opted members Maveen Pereira and Sasha Ban.

F2 MINUTES OF LAST MEETING

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 April 2017 were agreed as a correct record.

F3 CONSTITUTION

The Committee agreed the constitution of the Committee and the appointment of the Chair and Vice Chair for the current municipal year.

RESOLVED - That the information be noted.

F4 ROLE AND REMIT

A report was received outlining the remit and terms of reference of the Committee.

RESOLVED - That the remit and terms of reference be noted.

F5 THE COUNCIL PLAN - YEAR END ASSESSMENT AND PERFORMANCE DELIVERY 2016-17

Committee received the six month performance update report, which provided an update on performance against strategic outcome indicators.

In terms of achievements in education it was reported that the take up of free two year old places was 84%, against the national take up of 70%. The percentage of

outstanding schools in Gateshead is 38.3% which surpasses the national average of 19% and the regional average of 21.4%. It was also reported that the number of children offered their first preference school has improved to 96%. KS4 attainment remains better than the regional average with the attainment of looked after children better than the national and regional averages. In addition the results for children attaining an 'expected standard' at the end of KS1 and KS2 was good.

Achievements in social care were reported for the last year, with 100% of Child Protection reviews being held within timescale. The number of looked after children remains high, however the number who had three or more placements was within target at 5.9%. The stability of placements has improved with 88.8% of looked after children remaining in the same placement for more than two years. In addition, 98.8% of looked after children had a review within timescale.

It was noted that the level of engagement in children's centres remains steady at 55%, which meets the Ofsted requirement to engage with the 'majority of families' (51%). The rate of young people remanded to custody continues to decrease and is below the regional and national averages. It was reported that 1545 families have been engaged with under the Troubled Families programme, to date a total of 459 families have had successful outcomes and payment by result has been claimed. At the end of the financial year a total of 24% of the overall target has been achieved.

Areas for improvement were highlighted, including the increase in permanent exclusions to 0.26% from 0.19%. The increase in Gateshead is not duplicated nationally or in statistical neighbours. It was noted that the number of pupils offered their first preference secondary school has reduced from 92% last year to 88% this year and remains below the target of 95%, although this is above the national average of 84%.

In terms of areas to improve in social care it was highlighted that overall performance remains positive, however there is increasing demand on the service due to the high numbers of looked after children and children with protection plans. The rates for these both remain above the regional and national averages. In relation to care leavers engaging in education, work, apprenticeships or training remains a challenge and a dedicated group has been set up with representatives from the LAC Team and Connexions to ensure outcomes are improving for care leavers.

It was reported that there remains challenge in relation to reducing the rate of reoffending. Also, the number of registered childminders has reduced by 22 since 2015, work is ongoing to publicise the introduction of the £500 government start up grant.

Over the next six months work will continue to strengthen the Early Help Strategy to empower families, professionals, the voluntary sector and local communities to work collaboratively to improve outcomes for children and families. Thus, helping divert families from more expensive specialist interventions. Work is also ongoing to understand the significant rise in child protection plans, this is alongside the new planning framework which seeks to make plans smarter. The SEND Joint Commissioning arrangements will be overseen to ensure the key actions identified

are delivered.

Committee was advised that a number of pieces of work will be undertaken over the next six months, for example; Connexions and REALAC Team coordinating work to improve outcomes for care leavers including developing opportunities for apprenticeships within the Council. In addition, Education Gateshead will continue focused work around narrowing the attainment gap for the most vulnerable young people. A Task and Finish Group has been set up to look at the increase in permanent exclusions to identify issues and recommendations arising. The Early Years and Childcare Service will focus on preparing for the increase in statutory free childcare entitlement from 15 to 30 hours for three and four year old children, from September 2017. The Supported Housing Review is a pilot informing the future commissioning of Supported housing for care leavers and looked after children.

Committee commented that the information contained in the report is useful and should not be abridged in the future.

It was guestioned as to why permanent exclusions have increased and whether there are any improvements that can be made quickly. It was acknowledged that there are no quick fixes and the LSCB has commissioned a report into the reasons why there has been an increase and what can be done to improve this. It was questioned as to which schools are permanently excluding the most pupils and whether there is any scope to pressure those schools with the highest exclusion rate to deal with the pupils before permanently excluding. It was confirmed that in terms of the school breakdown there are no outliers and increased exclusions are across every secondary school. It was also noted that as the vast majority of schools are academies the local authority has limited influence and ultimately the funding for dealing with challenging pupils has gone. The point was made that as a political organisation it should be made clear that this is a result of academisation and that the cost of looking after these pupils should be subsidised by academies. It was also suggested that overcrowded behaviour services means more damage to individual young people accessing the service and also impacts on their re-inclusion. Committee was reassured that no child would fall through the gaps even though the PRU is full at present, it was noted that the PRU will be converting to an academy due to a poor Ofsted inspection.

It was suggested that the National Troubled Families Programme was unsuccessful and the effectiveness was questioned, as the control group showed similar figures for people getting back into work who were not part of the programme. Committee was advised that this was a programme developed by government, the idea of which was to have a lead practitioner working towards employability within a household. It was acknowledged that there has been some debate as to how this is measured, however there has been some success in Gateshead with some households where the team has affected change.

It was queried why alcohol intake in pregnancy is not measured. It was noted that this is subjective and information would come from the maternity service, however it is not clear how this is recorded.

It was guestioned how cost effective the Children's Centres are but it was confirmed

that no cost exercise had been carried out as yet.

RESOLVED -

- (i) That Committee considered the activities undertaken at year end 2016/17 are achieving the desired outcomes in the Council Plan 2015-2020.
- (ii) That Committee agreed that the report be referred to Cabinet on 18 July 2017.

F6 0-19 PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE PROVISION - CONSULTATION / MODELS

Committee received a report on the 0-19 health needs assessment, consultation findings and the proposed model for the procurement and delivery of a 0-19 Healthy Child Programme service for Gateshead. There are three key areas of the Healthy Child Programme; Health Visiting, Family Nurse Partnership and School Nursing.

It was noted that this programme will reflect the work of the 0-25 programme board which has a broader remit of considering how health and social care services can work together better and develop an integrated health and social care offer. It was also noted that the 0-19 review was necessary in order to fit procurement law and timescales.

The Health Needs Assessment incorporated performance data, a review of national and local evidence and guidance as well as consultations with service users and stakeholders. Presentations were also received from other local authorities as to how they delivered their 0-19 services, these presentations showed examples of colocated health and social care, with some being commissioned out to external providers and some being brought in-house. Following this work the service model was developed, it was noted that this model will be flexible and requires the future provider to work with commissioners to develop it further.

In terms of population projections it is anticipated that there will be a 14% increase in 11-15 year olds by 2024, therefore consideration needs to be given to the school nursing workforce in future years.

It was noted that within the children's profile there is a large proportion of looked after children on a Child Protection Plan, the majority of whom are aged between 0-9, with the largest proportion aged 0-4 years old. The largest category for Child Protection Plans is due to neglect, this accounts for 62% of cases. Therefore a focus of the 0-19 service has been on early help and how services such as Health Visiting and Family Nurse Partnership can support the early help offer.

It was acknowledged that there are a large number of children with special educational needs within Gateshead and although it is not the role of the 0-19 service to provide specialist nursing support, it is important to incorporate a health role for the purpose of developing Education Care Health Plans.

It was reported that the main issues that this service will tackle are; emotional health and wellbeing, childhood obesity, oral health, teenage pregnancy, homelessness

and poverty, substance misuse, smoking, breastfeeding, accident prevention and self harm.

The service model for 0-19's will incorporate the public health nursing functions, however this will be flexible to integrate with social care teams over the next couple of years. Through consultation with the public and service users the key findings identified five priorities;

- Positive parenting
- School readiness
- Improving emotional health and wellbeing
- Healthy eating
- Risky behaviours

These key priorities were also the same as those identified by professionals through consultation with GP's, education, children's centres, YOT and Family Intervention Team.

Through the Health Related Behaviour Questionnaire, focused on children and young people aged 0-19 years old, this is used for population based interventions aimed at improving knowledge and behaviour.

The core service that will be commissioned is captured in the 4 5 6 model for Health Visiting and School Nursing, this aims to improve access, outcomes, experience and reduce inequalities. This will have children, young people and families at its centre.

It was noted that the specification will be published on 26 July. The contract will be awarded in December with the new contract to commence 1 April 2018.

Committee questioned the existence of female genital mutilation (FGM) and child sexual exploitation (CSE) cases in Gateshead. It was confirmed that there are cases of FGM in Gateshead and the Community Safety Team are monitoring this. It was agreed that an update would be brought back to the next meeting on this issue.

RESOLVED -

- (i) That the Committee noted the information provided in the report in relation to the health needs assessment and responses to the consultation work.
- (ii) That the Committees comments be noted on the proposed model and service delivery for the 0-19 public health integrated Healthy Child Programme to inform further development of the proposed model and specification.
- (iii) That Committee agreed to receive an update on the new service as part of its work programme for 2018/19.
- (iv) That an update be provided to Committee on FGM and CSE in Gateshead.

F7 UPDATE - CHANGING ROLE OF LOCAL AUTHORITIES IN EDUCATION

Committee received a report on the Council's educational statutory duties and the responsibilities of academy / multi academy trust (MAT).

It was reported that the 2016 education White Paper 'Educational Excellence Everywhere' made it clear Government's direction for the future was that all schools would move to academy status. However, due to political changes within Government the White Paper was scrapped. It was pointed out that this Government still promotes schools becoming academies and if a school is judged by Ofsted to be inadequate it is required to join a MAT.

Academy Trust freedoms and responsibilities were identified within the report.

RESOLVED - That the Committee noted the content of the report.